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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

The Directors present therr Strategte Report of Kobalt Music Group [ntermediate T imited (the “Company™) from the acquisition date 20
October 2022 to 30 June 2023 (referred to as “20237 and “period” throughout the Financial Statements).

On 12 September 2022, the Company was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 as a private limited Company domiciled and
registered in England and Wales, The Group was formed when Kobalt Music Group Bideo Limited. a 10094 owned subsidiary of the
Company. acquired 100% of the shares of’ Kobalt Music Group Limtted and its subsidiaries on 20 October 2022,

These financials statements are presented in USD beeause the Company has determined that USD are the presentation currency which
best reflects the activities of the group, since the majority of the debt funding, and a significant propertion of the revenue, arce
denomtnated USD.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

I'he principal activity of Kobalt Music Group Intermediate Limited and its subsidiaries (-Group™ is the provision of services
to the owners and creaters of music. There have net been any signiftcant changes in the Group's principal activity in the period
under review. The Group head office is in London. with other offices in New York, Los Angeles, Miami. Nashville. Atlanta.
Sydney. Steckholm. Berling Heng Kong, Netherlands. Switzerland. France. and Treland (branch).

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board moniters the Compans “s performance in a number of way s including key performance indicators. The kev finangial
performance indicators for continuing operations are as tollows:

2023
Revenue $521.989k
Gross profit $93.064k
Gross profit percentage 17.8%
Contribution margin’ $82.085k
Net assets $306.112k
Net current labilities $169.685)k
Cash 34,353k

Comribution marein s equal to gross marein less ongomg service costs shown in note 5 reconciliation

The Group also uses certain non-financial performance indicators including adjusted EBETDA, Adjusted ERITDA for the
periad was §47.4m resulting in adjusted EBITDA margin of 9.1%. For reconciliation of operating loss 10 adjusted EBITDA
please see note 5.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

The ultimate sharcholder relationship is with Franseisco Partners. A board of dircctors was established. consisting of representatives from
Franscisco Partners and Kobalt. There are quarterly board meetings during which the Kobalt Ieadership team provided the board with
updates regarding business performance across cach function and key sirategic initiatives.

An Audit Committee was also established and meets quarterly in line with board meetings. Consisting of the Kobalt CFO and a
representative trom Franscico Partners. the Audit Commifiee reviews Kobalt's financial metnes including profit and loss. the balance
sheet. treasury, and tax and the Kobalt risk management and compliance framework.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The risks and euncertaintics facing the Group are detailed below.

Revenue generation: The engoing demand for the music administered by the Group is variable and as such the level at which
this music will generate revenue for the Group in future periods is uncertain.

The Group secks to mitigate this risk by aiming to make the roster of music administered by the Group as wide-ranging as
possible. This means that the Group’s revenue is not unduly atfected by fluctuations in the popularity of certain genres ot
music. or of specilic writers and antists. The fact that the Group collects rovalties worldw ide minimises its exposure to specific
territories,



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Client acquisition and rcetention: The decistons of potential clicnts to sign with Kabalt or of existing clients to remain with
Kobalt arc comples and involve the consideration of many factors. As such it is uncertain how mans new clients the Group
will sign and what proportion of existing clients will extend their agreements.

In recent vears. the Group has increased jts sales etforts, particularly in the US which is the world’s largest market. The
Dircctors regularly review the Group's capital structure 10 enable it to provide the rovalty advances which larger prospective
clients often require. The Group makues constant efforts 1o improve its service offering, particularly in the arcas of transparency
and technological innovation. This serves to help retain existing clicnts as well as encouraging new clients to join Koball,

Market environment: Changes in the ceonomic conditions of the markets in which Kobalt operates could impact its business.
The Group moniters the latest developments in the industry by means of research, review of trade publications, and
membership of industty organisations and torums. Kobalt's state of the art rovalty processing and analvsis systems allow it to
adapt more quickly te industry changes than more traditional publishers and record labels.

Changing distribution: The new channels for music distribution and licensing (e.g. streaming) are significantly changing the
eperational and tinancial dvnamics of music publishing,

Again. Kobalt's tecchnological expertise makes it well-placed 10 adapt to new distribution channels. The high level of
autemation in its rodalty processing makes assimilating new sources of revenue and/or rovalty information less time-
consuming and costly.

Third party suppliers: Kobalt rclies on a number ol important third party suppliers to operate successtully. The nature of
music publishing makes i impossible to avoid reliance on some third parties. especially rovalty collection societies. Any
tailure in the provision of these services may adversels impact Kobalt's business. The Company only payvs out roy alties
clients after being received.

Climate change: Kobalt arc committed to finding ways of reducing our environmental impact and endeavor to he a considerate
member of aur local. and wider. communities. As a business we actively cngage a paperless environment using wechnology to
support this initiative. but where this is not possible all our effices are cquipped with recycling facilitics to reduce our
consumptive waste. As a global business. while travel is necessary, we aim to minimise our travel to only essential travel where
possible.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Greup's activities expose it to a number of financial risks including currency risk. credit risk and liquidits risk. The use of
financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the beard of Directors. which provide written principles
on the use of financtal derivatives to manage these risks, The Group dees not use derivative financial instruments [or specalative
purposes.

Crrreney visk

I'he Group's activities expose it to some risk of changes in toreign currency exchange rates. There is largely a natural hedging
in place for the Group's core activities. however in recent vears the Group identified the GBP cost base of its UK operations
to be posing a translation risk o conselidated reporting. [n response to this, the Group entered into a programme of currency
forward contracts.

Credit risk

Rovalties due to Kobalt are often from large and established organisations and there is considered to be a low risk that these
debts will not he recovered.

Lhe Graup is exposed 1o credit risk when it makes advances 1o clients. These advances are subject to detailed financial anab sis
and a full commercial assessment.

Liguidin: risk

I'he Group regularly prepares and updates cash flow forecasts which monitor its linancing requirements. The Group
maintains a closc relationship with its existing lenders whilst regularly assessing the possibility of obtaining finance from
ather sources.

LA



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT

SECTION 172

The Directors are responsible for acting, in good faith. o promote the success of the company for the benetit of its
sharcholders as a whole whilst having regard to the matters set out in s.172( D(ak-(f) Companies Act 20006,

Board of Directors
At the date of this report, the Board consists of two Directors.

The duttes fulfitled by the Directors are. in part. set out in the Compam s Articles of Assooiation and company law. The Board
promotes appropriate and effective controls and a culture of transparency within the Group. Where appropriate. the Dircctors
discharge certain dav-to-day responsibilities to the management team and other senior employees to deliver the strategy and
manage risk.

In addition 1o corporate governance, the Board is responsible for setting the culture and strategic direction of the Greup and
engaging with cach ol its key stakcholders to ensure the long-term success of the business. The Board meets regularly 1o review
these matters, as well as the Group's policies and procedures. Further information on this can be found in the sections befow.
Culture and values

Our values at Kobalt are the foundation of who we are and what we do. They drive the way we work with our clieats. how we
make decisions, and the wav we treat cach other, Since Kobalt was founded. the vision has atways been to treat our clients lairly
and with transparency. These values reflect that ambition.

I'he Board is responsible for establishing and embedding a culture that aligns with this vision. The key values that underpin our
culture are:

* W are Music First

®  Weare Creators

®  Weare Inclusive

e We are Transparent

® W are Powered by Tech
*  We are Transtormative

The Dircetors recognise the importance of articulating the company's cutture to all employces. Our performance management and
rewards practices arc aligned with the Company's values and thus inRuence our ways of working.

Culture remains on the Board's agenda as a subject of continuous review and progress, Through the leedback and results from
our employee experience analytics and our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion practices, our management team evaluates and supports
driving positive cultural norms, as well as. continuously assessing their impact. This, and feedback from our employees,
constructively creates our base tor action planning o drive improvements with accountability,

Strategy

Tao achieve tts vision, the Group has set out a strategy focused on the fallowing:

e Sign and develop the most significant and impactiul talent

s Develop best in ¢lass technology platform enabling Kobalt to be the leading B2B administration destination
®  [nvest in music copyright

¢ Promoting AMRA as the leading global digital licensing society

¢ Create and sustain a highly engaged workforce

6



KOBALT MUSIC GROUF INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

Strategy (continued)

¢ Kobalt Music Group was sold in October 2022 10 Francisco Partners (along with other investors), wha support the

Kobalt vision and desire o continue the expansion of the Company.

*  Launching a Joint Venture to acquire Music Copyrights and continue to grow our advance business to sign new

clients and retain existing rester,

e Continuing to innovate and invest in our industry -leading technelogy platform supporting greater efficiency and client

service,

Stakcholder engagement

Engaging with our stakeholders heips us to identity and deliver the objectives that matter most to them. The objectives ot'our
stakeholders are embedded in the Group's culture, vatues and strategy as described above. Additionally, the Board considers
the key stakeholder’s more specific needs and objectives during the regular board mectings. The Board delegates follow-up actions

0 achieve such ebjectives as appropriate.

Clients

Kobalt's cliem teams lead the engagement with our clicnts.

We continue to invest in our industry=leading plattorm to maximise value trom
their works.

Maintain board positions for a number ot industrs groups 1o further the industry.

Employees

Kobalt's People & Cultare leads engagement with aur employees through
a variety ot ways including survevs. training/workshops. regular
communication and coaching.

Kobalt has cnhanced its inclusive cullure through a clear Diversity. Lquity
and Inclusion strategy linked to business objeetives.

Kobalt operates via a Hybrid working policy to support better work-life
balance.

Kobalt prevides ongoing physical and mental wellbeing support 1o all
employvees globally. in the form of Emplovee Assistant Programs, Annual
[Leave and Recharge Dayvs.

Supptiers  and
ather partners

Kaobalt has delegated supplier engagement to the employees responsible for budget
management/spend.

Kaobalt tocuses on ensuring supphiers’ values are aligned with ours.

Kobalt remains committed (o working with suppliers with sustainable social and
environmental practices.

Community and
cnvironment

Kobalt's Emplovee Resource Groups witl advocate and serve as allics to
six employee-led communities:

o Green (envirenmental), Parents, Women, LGBTQIA+.

Wellbeing and Multcultral,

Kobalt has sponsored a ten-vear education grant with Save The Music,
Kobalt commits to outreach initiatis es (o work with underprivileged talent to £ill
our Global Internship Program and Junior roles.
Kobalt provides an annual donation to both global and local charitics which are
employee-led.
Kobalt is currently working to implement an ESG Acuon Plan in 2024/25,




KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

Policies and procedures
The Directors have put in place policies and procedures to support the Group's operating strategy in light of their Section 172
duties. These include:
(i} Delegation of Authority
The Board oversees a delegated authority wherebs certatn matters can be dealt with by the CT.O. CFOL management team
ot other emplovees. The management team is reasonable for maintaining signing authoritics, The Board maintains a close
working relationship with the management team and has oversight of day-10-day business and strategic matters of the Group.
(i) Anti-bribery and Corruption
The Board is commitied to the prevention. deterrence and detection of bribery and corruption. Koball takes a zero-tolerance
approach to bribery and corruption and is committed to acting professionally. fairly and with integrity in all our business
dealings and relationships, The Board oversees its responsibilities through the management team by ensuring training on
this forms part of our mandators compliance training program.
(iit) Whistlehlowing
The Board is committed to conducting all business in an honcest and cthical manner. Kobalt' s emplovee handbooks include
a whistleblowing policy to encourage the timely reporting of suspected wrongdoing. Kobalt covers this topic in the new hire
onboarding process.
(iv) Anti-Slavery
The Board has a clear stance of zero-tolerance of all forms of slavery. human trafficking and other expleitation in any part
of the Group's business or in its supply chain. Kobalt's website includes further information en the Modern Slavery Act
2015,
%3] Advice available to the Board
The Beard has access o the services of outside counsel and may take independent professienal advice where it judees it
necessan to do so in order to discharge their responsibilities as Dircetors.
Information
The Directors arrange to receive and consider information required to carry out their duties and:

& Receive regular business updates and financial performance reviews against budget:

®  Discuss and approve the annual budget:

e Consider and debate strategic business decisions at quarterly board meetings, which impact the long-term direction of the
Group.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY

The following disclosure is for the purposes of compliance with the Streamlined Encrgy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)
regulations. The information presented mcets the requirements for SECR and dees not inglude data relating to additional.
voluntary, reporting.

For the 2022-23 financial period. Kebalt Music Group Intermediate Limited in the United Kingdom used o total of 50,700
EWh of energy. generating carbon emissions of 10,15 1CO2¢. I'he Key Performance Indicator of emissions per full time
equivalent employee for the period was (105 1C02e.

The data has been prepared using the GHG Reporting Protoce] — Corporate Standard methedology. taking best available data
and estimates where required. The reporting meets the minimum requirements for SECR and no volumary emission sourges
are stated.

Lhe electricity consumption has been estimated tor the only occupied site at [20 Moorgate Street during the financial period.,
and is based on the office space leased oor area, The Tandlord at this site does not have tenant metering fitted and thercfore
actual consumption data in not available, Energy asseciated with heating and cooling of both offices is under the control of
the landlords and is not included in this disclosure.

This disclosure includes data for all subsidiary companics in the UK over which Kebalt Music Group Intermediate 1.td has
financial control. These have not been broken out as all operations arc co-located.

The Group's UK carbon footprint is shown in the below table.

Units 02777
ENERGY INPUTS
Total Purchased Electricity kVWh 50,700
Total Energy Use kWh 50,700
EMISSIONS
Scope 2 — Purchased Electricity kgCO2e 10,152
Total Emissions kgCOZe 10,152
FTE 188
Intensity ratio: Emissions per employee Kg COZe / employee 54
Intensity ratio: Emissions per employee T CO2e /! employee 0.05

UK employvees represent 55% of the Group's employvee population. the cnergy consumption is decmed to be evenly distributed
and therefore a proportionate estimate of the total Group emissions would be equivalent to 18.458 kgCO2e.

It has been necessarny 10 estimate electricity consumption using industry standard benchmarks. The impact of increasing or
decreasing the estimate by 1% for electricity is +/- 2.9% of the total emissions for the Company.

[t is also a requirement under SECR to state any energy ctficiency actions that were undertaken in the reparting pertod. Kobalt
Music Group Intermediate Lid relocated to a smaller office at the start of 2022 resulting in a lower energy demand.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

No events since the end ot the tinancial period that impact the financial statements.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Dircetars expeet another vear of strong growth across the Group. The Directors are not aware. at the date of
this report. of any likelyv major changes in the Group's principal activities in the next year.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In the coming vear the Group expects to further enhance and expand the scalability of'its global licensing. collection
and pavment plattorm as well as its client portal. providing clicnts with unparalicled transparences .

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by

S~

C Drabble
Company Secretary

16 November 2023
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Dircetors present their annuval report and the audited linancial statements for the period from 20 Octaber 2022 to 30
Tune 2023

MRECTORS

The Directors who served throughout the period and to the date of this report. except as noted. were as follows:

M Razzini (appointed 12 September 2022)
M Spetzler {appointed 12 September 2022)

DIRECTORS' INDENNITIES

The Company has made qualifving third panty indemnity provisions tor the benetit of its Directors of all subsidiaries
which were made during the period and remain in foree at the date of this report.

DIVIDENDS
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the period.
GOING CONCERN

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable tuture. During the peried the Group made had a profit ot $13.1 millien from
continuing aperations and at the balance sheet date had net assets of $306.1 million and net current liabilitics of $169.7
million,

In October 2022 Francisce Partners became the Company™s major sharchelder. investing in our viston and growth.
The Group’s cash position remained strong, with cash of $34.4 million held at the balance shect date,

Further details regarding the adeption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of accounting policies in
the financial statements. For further information refer to note 2.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Dircetors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations. Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements tor cach linancial
vear. Under that law the Dircctors have clected to prepare the group inancial statements in accordance with
Intcrnational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Beard
("IASB™) and the parent Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generallv Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure IFramework. Under company law the Directors must not approve the linancial statements unless they arc
satisfied that they give a frue and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period.

In preparing the parent Company financial statements. the Directers are required to:

*  seleet suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentls :

+  make judgements and accounting cstimates that are reasonable and prudent:

*  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed., subject to any matcrial departures
disclosed and explained in the inancial staternents: and

e prepare the financial statements en the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate w presume that the
Company will continue in business.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT (continued)

In preparing the Group financial statements. International Accounting Standard 1 reyuires that Directors:

. properly seleet and apply accounting policies:

. present intormation. including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant. reliable, comparable
and understandable information:

. provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufticient to

enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions. other events and conditions on the entity 's
tinanctai position and financial performance: and
. make an assessment of the Company™s abiliy to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and cxplain the
Company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them o ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, Lhey are also responsible
tor safcguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the preventien and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

STRATEGIC REPORT

As permitted under s414C(1T1 of the Companies Act. the Company has chosen to present the following information
within the strategic report:

e financial risk management policies:

e exposwre to price risk. credit risk. liquidity risk and cash tlow risk:
s important events since the end of the financial year:

s future developments:

¢+ research and development activities: and

+  post balance sheet events.

AUDITOR
Fach of the persons who is a Birector at the date of approval ot this annual report confirms that:

e 30 far as the Director is aware. there is no relevant audit intormation of which the Company s auditor is
unaware: and

e the Directer has taken all the steps that he ¢ she ought to have taken as a director to make himself'/ herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that
information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 418 of the Companies Act
2006,

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and a resolution to reappoint them as
auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting,

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The Company gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidates”
particular aptitudes abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunitics are
available to disabled employees for training, carcer development and promation.

Where existing employ ees become disabled. it is the Company “s policy to provide continuing employment wherever
practicable in the same or an alternative position and 1o provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.
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EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT

The Company operates a framewaork for employee information and consultation which complies with the requirements
of the Information and Consultation of Empleyces Regulations 2005, During the year. the policy of providing
emplovees with intormation. including information relating to the economic and financial facters affeeting the
performance of the Company has been continued through companywide meetings and presentations. Regular meetings are
held between local management and employees to allow the free tlow of information and idcas.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Directors expeet another x ear of strong growth across the Group. The Directors are not aware. at the date of this
report, of any likely major changes in the Group's principal activitics in the next scar.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In the commg year the Group expects to further enhance and expand the scalability of its global licensing. collection
and payment platform as well as its clicnt portal. providing clients with unparalleled transparcney.

SUPPLIERS AND OTHER PARTNERS

Kaobalt has delegated supplier engagement to the emplovees responsible tor budget management/spend. Kobalt
focuses on ensuring suppliers’ values are aligned with ours. Kobalt remains commitied to working with suppliers with
sustainable social and environmental practices.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by:

P~

C Drabble
Company Secretan

16 November 2023



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF KOBALT MUSIC GROUP
INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statement
Opinion
In our opindon:

¢ the financial staicments of Kobalt Music Group Intermediate Limited {the “parent company’™} and its
subsidiaries (the “group’) give a true and fair view ol the state of the group™s and of the parent company s
affairs as at 30 June 2023 and of the group’s loss for the vear then ended:

e the group financiat statements have been preperly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards and Internatienal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB):

e the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. including Financial Reporting Standard 101 and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

o consolidated incame statement:

¢ consolidated statement of other comprehensive income:

s consolidated statement of tinancial position:

o consolidated statement of changes in equity:

¢ consolidated statcment of cash flows:

+  the statement of accounting policies and

s motes | to 33 in relation to the consolidated accounts

¢ company balance sheet

e company statement of changes in equits

* the related notes 34 to 38 in relation to the company accounts

The financial reporting framewoerk that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is
applicable law and [FRSs as issued by the IASB. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the parent Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards. including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ~“Reduced Disclosure Framework™ {United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Aceounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) (1S As (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilitics under those standards are further described in the auditor's respensibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK. including the Financial Reporting Council's (the
"FRC™s™) Ethical Standard. and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with thesc
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obained is sufficient and appropriate e provide a basis
tor our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

[n auditing the financial statements. we have concluded that the Directors”™ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation ol the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed. we have not identiticd any material uncertaintics relating 1o cvents or
cond#tions that. individually or collectively. may cast signiticant doubt on the group’s and parent Company s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements
arc authorised for issue.

Our responsibtlitics and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.



INDEFENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF KOBALT MUSIC GROUP
INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

Other information

The other information comprises of the information included in the annual report. other than the financial
statements and our anditor’s report thercen, The directors are responsible for the other information contained
within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. except
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report. we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thercon.

Our respensibility is te read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether the other information is
materialls inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. I we identifs such material inconsistencies or apparcent material
misstatements, we are required 1o determine whether this gives rise to a maierial misstatement in the financial
statements themsehves, I based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information. we are required w report that fact.

We have nothing 1o report in this regard.
Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the dircctors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and lair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary o enable the preparation of linsncial statements that are
tree from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
company s ability 10 continue as a going concern. disclosing. as applicable. matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting untess the directors either intend 1o liquidate the group or the parent
company or ta cease operations. or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whale are free from
material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and 0 issue an auditor's report that includes our opinien.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, bul is nol a guatantee that an andit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (UK ) will abways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can anise from fraoud or
crror and are considered material it, individually or in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected 1o
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC s website at:
koandi Hiys. This description torms part of our auditor’s report.

wann e

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularitics. including fraud. are tnstances of nen-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilitics. outlined above. to detect material misstatements in respect of irrepularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities. including fraud is
detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its centrol environment. and reviewed the group’s
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We
also enquired of management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irrcgularitics.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identificd
the key laws and regulations that:

e had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statemenis.
[hese included the UK Companies Act. pension legislation. 1ax legislation: and

¢ donot have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to
the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.

We discussed among the audit engagement relesant internal specialists such as tax, valuation and P specialists
regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where
fraud might occur in the financial statements.
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As a result of performing the above, we identificd the greatest potential for fraud in the following arcas. and our
procedures performed to address it are described below:

+  Mauanagements assumptions and judgements in estimating the final quarters revenue acerual. This estimate
is matertal and given the assumptions and judgements within its calculation is the arca identified to he
mast capable of manipulation: We challenged the key assumptions and judgements in the accruals by
testing the underlving data and adjustinents (o valid supporting documentation and exiernal source
evidence. assessing bath corroborative and contradictory evidence, utilised tailored analy tical procedures
Lo assess the reasonableness of assumptions. perfornied refrospective reviews over previeus estimates and
reperformed the caleulation for mathematical accuracy.

¢ Management's assumptions and judgments in estimating the impairment of acquired imtangible assets and
goodwill, Given the stgnificance of this estimate and the subjective nature of the assumptions and judgments
involved in its calculation, we identified it as an arca of heightened risk for potential manipulation. We
reviewed the impairment assessment for intangible assets including goadwill Irom management and challenged
the assumptions within this including forecast revenue growth., discount rates used and long term growth rates
and undertook a sensitivity analysis of underlying business forecasts.

In common with all audits under [SAs (1K), we are alse required 1o perform specific procedures to respond to
the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override ol contrals. we
tested the appropriateness of jeurnal entries and other adjustments: assesscd whether the judgements made in
making accounting cstimates are indicative of a potential bias: and evaluated the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above. our procedures to respond 1o the risks identified included the following:

* reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting decumentation to assess compliance with
provisions ol relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct efiect on the financial statements:

e pertorming analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks
of material misstatement duce te fraud:

»  cnquiring of management and in-house and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential
litigation and claims. and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations: and

» reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing correspondenee with relevant
tax authoritics.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
I[n our opinian. based on the work undertaken in the course ol the audit;

¢ the informatien given in the strategic report and the directors™ report for the financial yvear for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

*  the strategic report and the directors” report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requiremenis.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their ensironment
obtained in the course of the audit. we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the
dircetors” report.
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Maiters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respeet of the follewing matters ifl in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company . or returns adequate for our
audit hav ¢ not been received from branches not visited by us; or

* the parent company fimancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns:
ar

+ cerfain disclosures of dircctors’ remuneration specitied by law are not made: or

¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require {or our audit.

W have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company™s members, as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpese. To the fullest extent
permitted by law. we do not accept or assume responsibility to anvone other than the company and the company’'s
members as a body, tor our audit work, for this report. or tor the opinions we have formed.

Sy Gulasmns

Sandy Sullivan FCA (Senioer Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalt of Deloitte LILP

Statuiery Auditor

Reading. Tnited Kingdom

16 November 20023



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the Period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

Note

I

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other operating income

Administrative expenses 7
Other operating #xpenses

Foreign exchange gain

Operating profit 6

Investment income 9
Finance costs 10

Profit before tax
Tax L1
Profit for the year from continuing operations

Profit for the year

Period to
June 2023
$000

521,989
(428.925)

93,004

1.292
(63.383)
(1,965}
12.832

41,838

618

(27.718)

14,738

(1.663)

13,075

13,075




KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

Period to

June 2023
SO}
Profit for the vear 13,075
Other comprehensive income
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Fxchange differences on translation of foreign operations (16.127)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (16,127)
Total comprehensive loss for the vear, net of tax (3.052)



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2023
Note 2023
000
Non-current assets
Goodwill 13 275616
Intangible assets 14 340,683
Property, plant and equipment 15 4,250
Right of use asset 16 13.283
Investments 1¥ 344
Financial derisatives 27 1.577
Deferred tax asseis 24 30,0606
Advances 19 178402
1,044,221
Current asscts
Advances 19 95877
Trade and other receivables 20 241,169
Cash and bank balances 34,353
371.399
Total asscts 1,415620
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (45.107)
Lcase Hability 22 (2.318)
Financial dervatives 27 (117)
Borrowings 23 (4.975)
Accruals 21 (41021
Deferred revenue 21 {78,357)
(541,084)
Non-current liabilitics
Deferred tax liability 24 (113,581)
Other pavables 21 (7,534)
Lease liability 22 (14,663)
Borrowings 23 (432,646)
T Eway
Net current liabilities (169,685)
Nct asscts 306,112
Equity
Share capital 28 -
Share premium account 29 339,461
Retranslation reserves 30 (16.127)
Retained eamings (17.222)
Total equity (306,112)

The financial statements of Kobalt Music Group [ntermediate Limited, registered number 14351120, were approved by
the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 16 November 20023,

M Razzini - Director
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

ISSUED SHARE RETAINED  RETRANS- TOTAL
SHARE PREMIUM EARNINGS LATION EQUITY
CAPITAL RESERVES
Note 28 29 30
S0} S000 S000 ST000 ST000
241 October 2022 _ _ _ . _
Profit tor the period - - 13.075 - 13.075
Other comprehensive loss - - - (16.127) {16,127
Total comprehensive - - 13,075 (16,127) {3,052)
profit/ (loss)
Issue of shares i 339.46] - - 339461
Option cancellation - - (32.576) - (32.576)
payments
Shared based payment - - 1.207 - 1.207
transactions
Foreign exchange - - 1.072 - 1.072
differences
30 June 2023 0 339401 (17,222) {16,127} (306,112}
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LLIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

Note
Netused in operating activities investing activities
Purchases of property. plant and equipment 15
Purchases of'intangible assets 14
Acquisition of substdiary net of cash taken on 4

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities

Proceeds on issue of shares

Share option cancellation pavments
Repavment of lease labilities
Right of use assct additions
Repayment of loan

Loans drawn

Loan interest repatd

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foretgn ¢xchange rate changes

Cash and cash cquivalents at end of vear

2023

5000

{16,669)

(2.905)
(49.724)
(307.719)

(360,348)

331461
(32.576)
{2.338)
(158)
(191.468)
337.218
(25735
416,406

39,389

(5.036)
34,353



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year period from 28 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

Note
Profit for the year
Adjustmens for:
Finance costs 1
Intercst on lcase lability 10
Income tax expense m
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 15
Depreciation ol right of use assets 16
Amortisation of intangible assets 14
Share-based payment expense %
Unrealised gain ot derivatives
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange differences
Opecrating cash flows before movements in working capital
[ecrease in receivables 20
[legrease in pavables 21
Cash used in operations
Incoine taxes paid "

Net cash used in operating activities

023
$000

13.075

26,645
1.072
1.663

493
1,795

21.318

1.207
(4.161)
(9.367)

53,740
(67.781)
(787}
(14,828)

(1.841)

(16,669)

[
fd



KOBALT MUSIC GROUT INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Kobaft Music Group Intermediate is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom vnder the Companics Act.
The Company is a private company limited by shares and is registered in Lingland and Wales. The registercd
office ix located a1 3th Floor Goldings House, 2 Flavs Lane, Hays Galleria, SE1 2HB.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collecinely. the Group) torm the consolidated financial statements for the vear
ended 30 June 2023, which were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Direclors on 16
Novembher 2023

The Group is principally engaged in the provision ot services to 1the owners and creators of music.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {H°RS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. except for finanetal
instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period. as explaincd
in the accounting policies below, TTistorical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given
in exchange for goeds and services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfcr a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement datce, regardless of
whether that price is directly obseryable or estimated using another valuation technique.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability. the Group takes into account the charagteristics of the asse
or liability il market participants would take those characteristies into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated tfinancial
statements is determined on such a basis. except for leasing transactions that are within the scope 0f'1AS 17, and
measurements that have some similarities 1o fair value but are not fair value. such as value in usc in 1AS 36.
The consolidated Ninancial statements are presented in US dollars and all values are reunded to the nearest
thousand ($000). except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated tinancial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiarics) made up to 30 June each vear. Control is achicved when the
Company:

»  has the power over the investee:
s jscxposed. or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the imvestee: and
+  has the ability 1o use its power 1o affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee it facts and circumstances indicate that there are

changes to one or more of the three clements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee. it considers that it has power

over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of

the investee unitaterally . The Company considers all reley ant zets and circumstances in assessing whether or not

the Company's voting rights in an investee arc sufticient to give it pewer, including:

o the size of the Companm ‘s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion ef holdings of the other
vote holders:

»  potential voting rights held by the Compans. other vote holders or other partics:



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 34 June 2023

2.8IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation {continued)
e rights arising from other contractual arrangements: and

¢ am additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has. or docs not have. the current
ability te direet the relevant activities at the time that deeisions need te be made. including v oting patterns
at previous shareholders' meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary beging when the Group obtains control over the subsidiars and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary . Assets, Habilitics. income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each compenent ot other comprehensive income are attributed to the ovners of the Company and
1o the non-controtling interests. Total comprehensive tncome ol the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests cven if this results in the nen-controlling interests having a defieit
balance.

Where necessary. adjustments are made to the financial staiements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies
uscd into line with the Group's accounting policies.

Al intragroup asscts and liabilities. equity, income. expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the

members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary. without a loss of control. is accounted for as an cquity

transaction. It the Group loses contrel onver a subsidiary. it

* derccognises the assets (including goodwilly and liabilities of the subsidiar :

*  derccognises the carry ing amount of any non-controlling interest;

»  derecognises the cumulative translation dififerences, recorded in equity:

* recogniscs the tair value ol the congsideration received:

e recognises the fair value of any investment retained:

e rtecognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss: and

* reclassifies the parent’s share of compoenents preyiously recognised in other comprehensive income to protit
or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following are the significant accounting podicies applied by the Group in preparing its consolidated {inancial
statements:

Businessy combinations and goodwill

Business combinatiens are accounted for using the acquisition methed. The cost of an acquisition is mcasured as
the aperegate of the consideration transterred. which is measured at the acquisition date fair value and the amount
ol'any nan-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination. the Group elects whether 1o measure
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquirec’s identitiahle
net assets. Acgquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Company has an option 1o apply a “concentration test” that permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activitics and assets is nol a business. This clection can be applied on a transaction by transaction
basis. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all ot the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable or group of similar identifiable ussets.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial asscts and labilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms. cconomic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquires.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 28 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

L SIGNTIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business comhbinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingem censideration to be transterred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. All contingent consideration (except that which is classificd as equity) is measured at tair value with the
changes in fair value in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subscquent settlement is accounted for within equity . Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amoeunt recognised for non-controtling interests) and any
previous interest held. over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net
assets acquired is in exeess of the aggregate consideration transferred. the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the fiabilitics assumed and reviews the procedures uscd to measure
the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. 11 the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value
of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration trunsferred. then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition. goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired tn o business combination is, trom the acquisition date. allocated to cach of
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expectled to benelit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
asscts or liabilities of the acquirec are assigned to those units.

A cash-generating unit (CGLUY is determined based upon its products and services and reportable segment. Where
goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of. the goodwill
associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrving amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed eperatton and the portion of the cash generating unit retained.

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
s Music-based royallies

*  Asset Management fees received as the General Partner tor Kobalt's Fund advisory business (Kobalt
Capital™)

Royedties:

The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specitic eriteria to determine it it is acting as principal or
agent, The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all its royalty revenue arrangements.

Under IFRS 15. the Group recognise revenue tor usage-based rovalties at the later oft
(2 when the usage vceurs: and

{b) the performance obligation 1o which some or all of the sales-based or usage-based roy alty has been allocated
has been satistied {or partially satisfted).

As aresull turnover represents 12 menths” worth of royaltics and part of this will be represented by an accrual the
Company makes for approximately three months of rovally revenue. the receipt of which occurs in the first quarter
post year end.

Asset Management fees

As part of the Group's Asset Management business it reeeives management fees and performance fees en the asscts
it manages. These fees are acerued based on when they are camed.

ther income

Dividends arc received from financial assets measured at far value through profit or loss (FVPL). Dividends are
recognised as investment revenues in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is established,

interest income on financial assets at amortised cost, ealeulated using the effective interest method is recognised in
the statement of protit or loss as part of investment revenues as it is earned from financial asscts that are held for
cash management purposes.
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATLE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 Qctober 2022 to 30 June 2023

2, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and habilities for the curremt period are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax Jaws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted. ar substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countrics where the Group operates
and gencrates taxable income.

Withholding tax is a complex issue that reguires analysis of domestic legislation, double tax treatics and the
submission of forms and documents to relevant payers and tax authoritics. Due to the inherent complexities there
is a risk that net all withhelding tax has been accounted correctly. The Company, therefore. continues to consult
with tax specialists and experts on a regular basis to consult and review its tax structuring arrangenments. Were
any amounts to become due in respect to withhoelding tax the Company is entitled to claim these back under the
customer agreement. The possibility of a material net outflow is considered remote.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided wsing the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrving amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deterred tax labilities are recognised lor all taxable temporary differences. except:

e whenthe deferred 1ax habilits arises trom the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the transaction. atfects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss: and

e inrespect of tavable emporary differences associated with investimems in subsidiarics. branches and
associates and interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
ditferences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foresecable tuture.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences. the carry forward ot unused tax
credits and unused tax losses. to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary ditferences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 1empotary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is net a business combination and. at the time
of the transactien. affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss: and

* in respeet of deductible temporary differences assoctated with investments in subsidiaries. branches
and associates and interests in joint arrangements. deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it ts probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foresecable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary difterences can be utilised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost. netof aceumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment
losses. if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts ot the property. plant and cquipment. if the
recognition criteria are met. When signiticant paris of property. plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals. the Group recogniscs such parts as individual asscts with specific usetul lives and depreciates them
accordingly. Likewise. when a major inspection is pertormed. its cost is recognised in the carrving ameunt of
the plant and cquipment as a replacement if the recognition critena are satishied. All other repatr and maintenance
costs are recognised in the profit or loss as imcurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated usctul lives of the assets as follows:

Fixtures and fittings 20% per annum
Olltee equipment 33% per annum
Computer equipment 33% per annum

An item of property. plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
arc expected fram its use, Any gain or loss arising on de-recegnition of the asset {calculated as the diffcrence
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrving amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 2{ October 2022 to 30 June 2023

2.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement and valuation processes

In estimating the tair value of an asset (or a liability). the Group uses fair valuc hierarchy in ITRS 13 to the
degree to which the fair value is observable.

«  Level | fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical asscts or liabilitics:

¢ lLevel 2 fair value mcasurcments are those derived trom inputs other than guoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability. cither directly (i.c. as prices) ar indircetly {i.c. derived
from prices): and

¢ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived trem valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data tunobservable inputs).

The investments outlined in note 13 of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separatcly are measured en initial recognition at cost. Fhe cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition.
intangible assets arc carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, it any.

Internally gencrated intangible asscts. oxeluding capitalised development costs. are not capitalised and
expenditure is recognised in the staiement of prafit or loss when it is incurred.

I'he useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as cither Ninite or indetinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
ammerlisation methed for an intangible asset with a finite uscful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting peried. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embaodicd in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method. as appropriate.
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite
lives is recognised in the statement of prefit or loss in the ¢xpense category consistent with the tunction of the
intangible assets.

[ntangible assets with indefinite useful Iives are not amortised. but are tested tor impairment annually. cither
individually or at the cash-gencrating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life i reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite lile continues to be supportable, I not, the change in usctul life from indefinite
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

CGrains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difterence between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrving amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profitor loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Rovalty advances

Advances in respect of royalties pavable, which are non-refundable but recoupable. represent the cost of the
grant of rights for cortain writer agreements. Specitic prosisions are made against these advances where the
outstanding advance at the balance sheet date exceeds fulare expected rovally carnings. The 1AS 36
requirement to consider impairment has been considered when concluding on the provisions applied in this
reporting petiod.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrving amount and fair value less
costs 1o sell.

Non-current asscts are classified as held for sale if their carrving amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable. and the assct is available for immediate sale in s present condition. Management must be committed
to the sate which should be expected to quality tor recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date
ot classification.
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Research and development costs
Lxpenditure on rescarch activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Development expenditures on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can
demonstrate:

s the technical teasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available tor use or sale:
s its infention to complete and its ability ro use or sell the asset:

*  how the assct will generate tuture economic benetits:

» the availability of resources to complete the asset: and

+  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an assel. the cost model is applicd requiring the
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accurnulated impairment losses.

Amortisation of the asset beging when development is complete and the asset is available tor use. 1t is amortised
over the period of expected future benefit. During the period of development. the asset is tested for impairment
annually.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at cach reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. It any
indication exists. or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. the Group cstimates the assct’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the asset or CGU s value in use. as the fair value less cost
o sell is nat reliably determinable, 1t is determined for an individual asset. unbess the asset doex not gengrule
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Groups of assets. Where the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exeeeds its recoverable amount. the asset is considered impaired and is written down
16 its recoverabie amount.

In assessing value in use. the estimated future cash lows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific w the
assel.

The Group bases its impairment caleulation on detailed budgets and forecasts which are prepared separately for
each of the Group™s CGUT to which the individual asscts are allocated. These budgets and forecast caleulations
arc generally covering a period of five years.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in those ¢xpense
categorics consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Leases

IFRS 16 introdueces new or amended requirements with respect 1o lease accounting. It introduces significant
changes 1o fessce accounting by removing the distinction between operating and tinance bease and requiring the
recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases. except tor shon-term
leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast 1o lessee accounting., the requirements tor fessor accounting
have remained largely unchunged.

The lease Habtlity is initially measured at the present value of the lease pavments that are not paid at the
commencement date. discounted using the rate implicit in the lease. I this rate cannot be readily determined.
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate,

The right of usc assets comprise the initial measurcement of the corresponding lease liability . lcase payvments
made #t or hefore the commencement date. less any lease incentives received and any initial dircet costs,

[.casc incentives (e.g. rent-free period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-usc assets and
lcase liabilitics whereas under IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive., amortised as a
reduction of rental expenses generally on a straight-line basis.

Under [FRS 16, right-of-usc asscts are tested tor impairment in accordance with IAS 36,

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and [eases of Tow-value assets (such as tablet and personal
computers. small items of oftice furniturce and telephones). the Group has opted 10 recognise a lease expense on
a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16. This expense is presented within ~other expenses” in profit er loss.

Income from operating subleases s recognized as “other operating income’ i profit or loss.
Share-based pavments

The Grranp has applied the reqnirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Pavments. The Group has issued equity-settled
share-bascd payments to certain employvees and others providing similar services. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at tair value at the date of grant. he fair value determined at the grant date ot the equits -
settled sharc-based pay ments is expensed immediately if there is no vesting pertod or on a siraight-line basis
aver the vesting period. based on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the
eliect of non-market-based vesting conditions,

[Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scheles pricing model. The expected life used in the model has been
adjustcd, based on management's best cstimate. tor the eftects ot non-transferabiliny. exercise restrictions. and
behavioural considerations.

Pension costs

Kobalt Music Group Intermediate Limited only operates a defined contribution stakcholder pension scheme.
The contributions made by Kobalt are included in the Prefit and Loss Account.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICTES (continued)

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of cach Group Company are presented in the curreney of the primary
cconomic environment in which it operates (its tunctional curreney). For the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements, the results and financial position ot cach Group Company arc cxpressed in United States
Daollars (USD). as the majority of the Group's income and expenses are in USD and afl management and bank
reporting is undertaken in UST).

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s [unctional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At cach balance sheet date. monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies arc retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monctary items carricd at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are translated a1 the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of histerical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements. the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, Exchange difterences arising. if any. are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity {attributed 10 non-controlling inlerests as appropriate).

The exchange difference arising on the retranskation of opening net assets is taken directh to reserves. All other
translatien differences are taken to the profit and less account with the exception of differences on foreign
currency botrowings 10 the extent that they are used to finance or provide a hedge against Group equity
imvestments in foreign currency enterprises. which are taken directly to reserves together with the exchange
difference on the net investment in these enterprigses. The Income Statement is transtated at the average exchange
rate for the financial vear. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are
also dealt with in reserves.

Cash amd cash cyuivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less. net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carmving amount of these assets is approximatels equal to their
fair value,

Derivative financial instruments

During the vear the Group has entered into foreign exchange torward contracts in order to manage its exposure
ter forcign exchange rate risk. Sce note disclosure 27. These are currently the onlv derivative financial
instruments that the Group holds.

Derivatives are recognised initally at fair valuc at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit er loss tmmediately as the current set of derivates do not meet the criteria o be designated for hedge
accounting under IFRS ¢,

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative tair
value is recognised as a financial hability . Derivatives are not offset in the tinancial staiements. A derivative is
presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more
than 12 months and it is not due 10 be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as
current asscts or current liabilitics.

Going concern

During the year the Group made a profit of $12.1 million from ¢ominuing operations and at the balance sheet
date had net assets of $305.1 million and net current liabilitics of $169.7 million.

The Group’s cash position remained strong. with cash of $34.4 million held at the balance sheet date. The
Company s horrowings of $255.5 million at the balance sheet date were used to acquire $212 million in Publishing
P catalogue assets o turther enhance our future profitability.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued}

Going concern (continued)

The Directors acknow ledge the Group is trading in an uncertain cconomic environment. although it is their belief
that the Group is well positioned to meet 1ts business ebjectives. The Directors bave prepared projected cash flow
information to cover a peried ol at least 12 months from the date of approval of these accounts. including
meeting debt covenants, any forcign exchange and interest rale impact on revenue, gross margin and costs, and
examined the results ol sensitivity analyvsis on their forecasts to assess the effect on cash given certain downside
scenarios. These projections anticipate that the Group will be able to operate from cash generated from trading
(including the fact that royalties are paid out atter being received. providing a natural working capital hedge).
In addition 1o the above forccasts. as the majority of the Group’s torecast advances and acquisitions are
discretionary. it required the Group could reduce outbound advances o preserve cash. In October 2022,
Francisco Partners became the Company “s majority sharcholder investing in our vision and growth.

Based on the above, the Directors have concluded that the Group will continue in operational existence tor the
foresecable future even if there were 10 be significant reductions in its planned revenues over this period and can
make use of additional mitigating steps as required. The Directors therefore consider it appropriate 10 prepare
the tinancial statements on the going concern basis.

New standards and interpretations not vet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statemients, the Company has not applied the following new and
revised [FRSs that have been issued but are not vet cifectiv ¢ and in somic cases had not yet been adopted by the

LU
Title Subject As issucd by the IASB,
mandatory for accounting
periods on or after
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 Jan 2023
Amendments to IFRS17 IFRS 17 1 Jan 2023
Amendments to TAS | Classification of Liabilitics as Current or 1 Jan 2023
Non-current — Deferral of Eftective Date
Amendments 1o TAS 12 Deferred Tax related ww Assets and 1 Jan 2023
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments 1o 1AS 8 Definition of accounting estimates I Jan 2023
Amendment 1o TFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaschack I Jan 2024
Amendment 10 1AS ] Non-current Liabilities with Covenants [ Jan 2024

3. SIGNTIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 2. the Directors are reguired
1o make judgements. estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts ol assets and liabilities that are not
reaclily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered 1o be relevant. Actual results may difter trom these estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised it the revision affects only that period. or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision atfects both current and future periods,

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical mdgements. apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with
separately below). that the Dircctors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that haye the most significant ¢ffect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

(]
[\*)



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

3. SIGNTFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
Revenue recognition

In making its judgement. management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue from the
provision ot services set out in [FRS 150 in particular. whether the Group can reliably measure the revenue due
{rom its contractual counterparts. The Directors are satisfted that the valuation used in making the revenue acerual
of approximately three months of rovakty revenue. in the current vear is appropriate,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future. and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
period, that max have a signiticant risk of causing a material adiustment to the carrving amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next tinancial scar, are discussed betow:

Recoverability of internally-generated intangible asset

During the vear. management reconsidered the recoverability ofits internally-generated rovalty sy stem which is
included in its balance sheet as an intangible asset at a value of $63.5 million. Refer to noete 144 for further details.

Given the unique nature of this system it is not possible to value this asset based on the market price for identical
or similar assets. However. since the Directors consider Kobalt's rovalty syvstem to be a market-leading product
they believe that its contribution to the groups cash flow significantly exceeds its value as recorded in the
accounts,

Recoverability of deferred tax asset

Druring the » car, management considered the recoverability of tax assets by ensuring that future tax losses could
be used o offset future taxable protits. The estimation of future taxable profits by jurisdiction is based on
Management's forecasted growth of the Company where assumptions have been using historical and forward
looking intormation for determining 1axable profits by jurisdiction.

The Dircctors are satistied that there will be taxable profits and the deferred tax asset is recoverable.
Recoverabifity of advances

In the course ot its business the Group regularly makes advances to clients which are recoupable by means of
future royalty reccipts. but nen-refundable.

The Directors assess the recoverability of these advances by considering historic carning trends of the ¢licnts
concerned and alse with reference to expected future carnings, Where the value of future carnings is less than
the amount advanced a provision is booked against the advance,

Recoverability of Goodwill

The Group is required to test. on an annual basis, whether goodwill has suffered anyv impairment. The
recoverable ameunt is determined based on value in use calculations. The use of this methed requires the
estimation ot future cash flows and the determination ol a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of the cash Mlows.

The recoverable amount of each segment as o cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in usc
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on tinancial forccasts approved by the Directlors covering a
five-vear period. and a pre-1ax discount rate of 10.9% per annum. For the purposes of impairment testing, cash
flows hevond that five- vear period have been extrapolated without assuming further growth,

Tt
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of Kobalt Music Group Limited

On 20 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% ot the ordinany shares in Kobalt Music Group Limited (further referred as
“KMG™) for $402m. satisfied in cash. Kobalt is a music company powcered by innovative technolegy created as an
alternative to the traditional muste business model. The company has become the leading independent music publishing
destimation for artists, songwriters, and publishers.

I'he acyuisition had the following impact on the Group's cash flows:

$000
Consideration 402.779
Rollover Shares {8.060)
Cash Acquired (87.00M
Net cash flow on acquisition 307.719

The acquisition had the following clfect on the Group's assets and liabilities:

Balance Sheet Book Value Fair Value adjustment Fair Value
ST S0 5000
Non-current assets
Imangible assets 277.491 237.969 515.460
Property, plant and equipment 1,749 - 1.749
Right of use asset 10.441 - 10.441
Invesunents 261 - 261
Financial dertvatives 1.450 - 1.450
Deferred tax assets 28222 - 28.222
Advances 93,328 - G3.328
412942 237969 650,911
Current assets
Advances 173,324 - 173.324
Trade and other receivables 181.015 - 181015
Cash and bank balances 87,000 - R7.000
441,339 - 441,339
Total assets 854,281 237,969 1,092,250
Current liabilities
Trade and other pavables (98.895) - {9R.895)
[.casc liability (1.867) - (1.867)
Financial derivatives (2.166) - (2.168)
Borrowings (4.521 - (4.521)
Accruals (393.478) - (393.478)
Deterred revenue (51.378) 1,757 (49,621}
{352,305} 1,787 (550.548)
Non-current tiabilitics
Deferred tax liabitity (330 {112,842 {113.372)
Financial derivatives (1.440) - (1.440)
Lease liabiliny (11.816) - (11.816)
Borrowings (287.312) - (287.312)
{301,098) {112,842) {413,940
Nct Assets Acquired 878 126.884 127.762
Consideration Paid 402,779
Goodwill 275,017



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

5. SEGMENT INFORMATIOM

IFor management purposes. the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has two
reportable segments, as follows:

e the Publishing (including Kebalt Capital)y scgment, which administers music publishing rights on behalf of
clients and provides asset management services: and

* 1he AMRA scgment, which is a music roralty collection socicty.
The Group’s Chief Executive monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purposes of making

decisions about resouree allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evatuated based on gross
profit and contribution margin and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

s
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)
Geographic information
Revenues from external customers

Turnover. which is stated net of value added tax. represents amounts carned in respect of the Group™s continuing
activity as stated in the Directors” Report. An analvsis of turnover by geographical market is given below:

2023
S'000
United Kingdom 71604
Rest of Furape 118.000
North America 283.028
Rest of World 48.757
T'otal revenue _ 521,989
6. OPERATING PROFIT
Has been arrived at atter charging:
Period to
June 2023
Note £000
Net foreign exchange loss 12.381
Deprectation of property. plant and cquiptment 15 463
Depreciation ot right of use assets 16 1.745
Amortisation of intangible assets included in other operating expenses 14 21.31%8
Stalf costs 8 34.910
R& Y expenses not capitalised 3.556
I'ees pas able to the Company “s auditor for the audit ot'the
Group's annual financial statements: 526
Subsidiaries” annual financial statements 28
Other non-audit services:
Taxation compliance services 531
Other taxation advisory services 173
Other advison services Y7
7. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2023
S5000
Staff costs 34910
[Jepreciation and amortization 23.606
Provisiens and write offs (2.361)
Gieneral and administrative 7.230
63.385



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

8. STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of hoth continued and discontinued operations (including executive directors) was:

2023
Numbers
Publishing client services and administration 115
Synchronisation and creative 84
AMRA 30
Tech and Product 63
Corporate and Other 8l
373
Post-capitelisation staff cosis; 2023
$000
Wages and salaries 29,172
Employer pension contributions 1.443
Social security contributions and similar taxes 3.088
Share-based payment charges 1,207
__ 34910
[irectors' remuneration amounts can be found within note 31,
9. INVESTMENT INCOMIE
2023
£T000
Incentive share income 544
Gain on equity investment 40
[nterest income 27
Other income 7
618
For details on investments, refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statemenis,
1. FINANCE COSTS
2023
$000
Interest expense on financial liabilitics measurcd at amortised cost 26,640
Interest on lease liabilities 1.072

27718



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

1. INCOME TAN

The major components of income tax expense tor the vear ended 30 June 2023:

2023
S0
Current income tax
United Kingdom corporation tax based on the loss for the vear at 20.5% -
Non-reclaimable withholding tax on roxalty pay ments received 4.207
Net VK corparation tax lor carlier years 41
lax paid in overseas jurisdictions (30
Total current tax 4,117
Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal ot timing ditterences (2.454)
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 1,663

The standard rate ol 1ax for the year. based on the Uinited Kingdom standard rate of corperation tax is 20.5%. The
actual 1ax charge for the current year differs from the standard tax rate for the reasons set out in the following
reconciliation:

2023

L0

Profit on ordinaty activities before tax 14.738

Tax on profit on ordinary activitics at standard rate 3.022
lFaciors afTecting charge for the yvear:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5.728
Income not taxable 10r tax purposcs (1,70
Income taxable for tax purposes 3]
Expenses deductible for tax purpeses (767)
Depreciation in defieit of capital allowances (1.973)
Tax losses carried lorward {0.645)
Net non-reclaimable withholding tax on rovalty pay ments received 4.207
Dilterent 1ax rates used in overseas purisdictions 186
Movement in short term liming differences 3.685
Deferred rate change 477
Losses utilized (1.584)
Total actual amount of current tax L663

On 10 June 2021 the UK government enacted o increase the UK corporation tax rate to 25% with effect from 1
April 2023, This will impact the value of the tax charged on UK profits gencrated in 2023 and subscquently.
Deferred tax assets and habilities have been measured at 25% o the oxtent that they will be reversed afier | April
2023,

Deferred taxation

Various Group campanies have, subject to agreement by the tax authorities in the relevant jurisdictions. tax losses
available for offset against future taxable profits arising from the same trades. These losses have an approximate
value of §31.2 mitlion of which $28.1 million has been recognized as a deferred tax assct.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 Octoher 2022 to 30 June 2023

12. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share units

The Group operates a share plan (the “plan™) under which certain members ot sentor management are invited to purchase
shares in Kobalt Music Group Topeo LP. which are subject to the terins and conditions set out in the plan or related
award documents. In accordance with IFRS 2, purchase of shares under the plan are accounted for as equity-settled share
based payments.

Shares purchased under the plan are subject o vesting conditions. of the wital number of shares in each award 50% are
subject to exit-vesting conditions and the remaining 50% time-based vesting conditions. Exit vesting is a non-market
performance condition. Exit vesting shares become vested upon a sale or listing of the Group provided the award holder
remains an employee of the Group. This means that the length of the vesting period for exit vesting shares is dependent
on achieving the non-market perfonmance condition and should be accounted tor as a grant with variable vesting period,
In these circumstances the Company estimates on the grant date whether (a) the employees will complete the requisite
service period and (b) the non-market performance condition will be satisfied. At each reporting date the probability of
exil is reassessed and when the event becomes probable a cumulative catch-up adjustment is posted. The time-based
vesting shares are vested at the rate of 1748 a month following the granting of the shares. However, all unvested time
vesting shares will become vested on the sale of the Group. Accordingly. the time-vesting shares have been accounted tor
on the same basis as exit-vesting shares.

All Unvested [ncentive Units as of a Participant’s Terminateon of Serviee shall be automatically forfeited and cancelled
for no consideration as of such Termination of Service. Additionally, if a Participant incurs a Termination of Service by
the Partnership or any ol its Subsidiaries (as applicable) for Cause or at a time when Cause exists or commils a
Restrictive Covenant Breach. then all Incentive Units (whether Vested Incentive Units or Unvested Incentive Units) shall
be automatically forfeited and cancelled for no consideration.

During the year 32,180,629 Class B Ordinary shares were issued. Of these shares 16,090.314.5 were issued at a price of
$0.05 per share while an additional 16,090.314.5 were issued at a price of $0,33 per share,

The Group recognised total expenses of $1.2 million related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in the year
ended 30 June 24023,

40



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEBIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

13, GOODWIELL AND INPAIRMENT

GROUP Goodwill
$'000

Cost

A120 Oc¢tober 2022 -

Acquisitions 275616

At 30 June 2023 275.610

The Group is required o tesl. on an annual basis. whether goodwill has sufiered any impairment. The recoverable
amount is determined based on value in use caleulations. The use of this method requires the estimation of future
cash flows and the determination of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.

The carrving amount of goodwill is allocated 1o the CGUSs as follows as at 30 June 2023, before impairment
consideration:

2023

S'000
Publishing 254,948
AMRA 20.668
275616

The recoverable amount of each segment as a cash-generating unit is determined based on avalue in use caleulation
which uses cash flow projections based on financial forecasts approved by the Directors covering a five-year period.
and a pre-tax discount rate ot 10.9% per annum. For the purposes of impaiement testing. cash flows bevond that five-
vear period have been extrapolated without assuming further growth,

Dircetors estimate that there would be an impairment charge within Publishing if revenue growth were to fall below
6%. AMRA would have headroom il growth reduced to 7ero.

4



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

4. OTHERINTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROLUP Client Software  Development  Publishing T'rademarks Total

conlracts licences costs assets assets
SO0 S 000 S0 $°000 S 000 SO0

Cost

Acquisition 138.954 51§ 68.600 287.528 19.800 515397

Additions — internally generated - - 7.002 1.125 - 8.127

Additions — external third parts - 1041 - 37.350 - 38.391

Additions — on acquisition ot

substdiartes - - - 3.200 - 3.206

At 30 June 2023 138,954 1,556 75,602 329,209 19,80} 565,121

Amuortisation

Amonrtisation charge 3.751 257 9376 6.574 1.366 21318

Foreign exchange rate movements 106 4240 2.734 (14¢h - 3,020

At 3} June 2023 3,857 677 12,104 6,434 1,366 24,438

Net hook value

At 20 October 2022 138.954 515 68.600 287.528 19.800 515.397

A1 30 June 2023 135,097 879 03,498 322775 18,434 540,683

Alb amortisation of intangible assets is recorded as a cost within operating expenses on the imcome statement on a
straight line basis.

Client contracts consist of administration agreements acquired on acquisition, and these are amortised over 25 vears,

Development costs consists entirely of the Group™s internally developed rovalty system. Different components of
the system have ditterent remaining amottisation periods. ranging up to seven years.

Publishing assets relates to payments made 1o acquire the right to collect royalties on future compositions by a
certain client and certain additiona] onboarding costs. Publishing assets are amortised with the collection of rovalties on

the future compositions.

Soltware licences include licences with a perpetual life purchased from external third parties and applications
internally created. Sottware licences are amortised over three years,

Trademarks includes trademarks. domain names and other brand related intellectual property. Trademarks are
amortived over 10 vears.,

Total net development costs of $63.498k are held by K'Tech Services Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

15. PROPERTY, PEANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP Office
cquipment
and Computer
fixtures cquipment Total
S006 S000 000
Cost
Acquisition 1.574 175 1.749
Additions 2.882 23 2.905
Foreign exchange movements 113 328 441
At 30 .June 2023 4,569 526 5,095
Depreciation
[epreciation 396 97 493
Foreign exchange movements 52 300 352
At 30 June 2023 448 397 845
Net book value
ALZ0 Oktober 2022 1.574 175 1.749
At 30 June 2023 4121 129 4,250




KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

16. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

GROUP

Lease
Cost $000
Acquisition 10.441
Additions 4.834
Disposals 3
Forcign exchange movements 136
At 30 June 2023 15,381
Depreciation
Depreciation in period 1.795
Forcign exchange movements 303
At 30 June 2023 2,098
Net book value
AL 20 October 2022 10441
AL30 June 2023 13,283

The maturity analysis of lease liahilities is presented in note 22,



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

17. SUBSIDIARIES

‘The Group consists of a parent company. Kobalt Music Group Intermediate Ltd. incorporated in the UK and a
number of subsidiarics indircctly . which operate and are incorporated around the world.

All subsidiarics are 100% owned by the Group with 100% of voting share. Kobalt Music Group Intermediate Lid
is 100% owned by Koball Music Group Fopeo L.P. Sec below for details:

(raraniees

The Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of certain of its UK subsidiaries at the reporting date in
accordance with section 479A of Companies Act 2006, The Compam has assesscd the probability of loss under
these guarantees as remate.

Name Address  Place of Principal
incorporation activity
and operation
KM Germany Gmbl L] Genmany Music publishing
Kobalt America Holdings, Inc {c) LISA Helding Company
Kobalt Capital America. Ine {1) ) USA Provision of investment advice
Kobalt Capital Limited* (a LK Provision of investment advice
Kobalt Capital Suisse Sarl (cdh Switscrland Provision of investment advice
Kobalt Music Publishing ( [talia) Limited* {a) UK Music publishing
Kobalt Music Publishing America Ine tc) LISA/Canada Music publishing
Kobalt Music Publishing Australia Pty Limited te) Australia Music publishing
Kobalt Music Publishing Limited* (a) LIK Music publishing
Kobalt Music Rovaltics Sarl if) fuxembiourg Music publishing
Kobalt Music Rovalties [ Sarl i) (0 [.uxembourg Music publishing
Kobalt Music Scandinavia AB (g Sweden Music publishing
Kobalt Music Services America Inc (e} USA Music publishing
Kohalt Music Services America Il Inc (ch USA Music publishing
Kobalt Music Services Australia Pty Limeted (et Australia Music publishing
Kaobalt Music Services Limited* [a) UK Music publishing
Kobalt Music Publishing Worldwide [imited * (al 'K Music publishing
Kobalt Music Netherlands BY (h) Netherlands Music publishing
Kobalt Music Netherlands International B.V. (h) Netherlands Music publishing
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

17. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name Address  Place of
incorporation
and operation

Kiech Services Limited* {a) UK Ircland

American Music Rights Association Ine. " USA

AMRA T.ondon Limited* ) UK

Kobalt Tondon Limited* (a) UK France

Kobalt Music Publishing Asia [.imited (k) Hong Kong

Kobalt Music Services Asia Limited k) Hong Kong

American Music Rights Association Aktiebolah (g} Sweden

Kobalt Capital Luxembourg Sarl(ii) {n [uxembourg

Che-Rond Songs AB 12l Sweden

Kobalt Music Publishing France (h France

Kobalt Music Scrvices France {0 France

Kobalt Music Catalogues Limited* (a) LK

Matter Music Limited* {a) UK

Kobalt Music Group Limited* {a) UK

Kobalt Music Group Bideo FLimited (1)* {it) UK

(1) Directly held bv Kobalt Music Group Intermediare Limited

fred Dissofved

Principal
activity

Group service provision
Collection society
Society service provision
Group service provision
Music publishing

Music publishing
Society service provision
Provision of investment advice
Music Publishing

Music Publishing,

Music Publishing

Music Publishing

Music Publishing

(Group service provision

Giroup service provision

* Exemption from Audit by Parent Guarantee — Entities debts and liabilities are guaranteed by the Company at the reporting date

in accordance with section 479A of the Companies Act 2006,

(a) 5th Floor Goldings Houvse. 2 Hays Lane. Hays Galleria. SE1 2HB

(by Oberwallstrasse 32, 10117, Berlin, Guermany

(cy 2 Gansevoort St 7th Floor, New York. NY 10014

(dY ¢/o Fidulem §.A.. Av. Mon-Repos 24, Case postale 625, 1001 Lausanne. Switzertand

(¢}
(1
(g)
(hy
(i)
)
k)
h

Suite 203, 24-30 Springficld Avenue. Potts Point. Svdney. Australia
35, rue Glesener. L-1630 Luxembourg

Upplandsgatan F6. 113 60 Stockholm, Sweden

Bergweidedijk 38 74E8AA Deventer. The Netherlands

21-27 Lambs Conduit $treet. London, WCIN 3GS, United Kingdom

45 Rue La Fayetle. 75009 Paris, France

2100 Ponce de Leon, Suite 1230, Coral Gables. Florida 33134, [Tnited States

Unit 1502, 15" Floor, Austin Tower. 22-26 Austin Avenue. Tsim Sha Tsui. Hong Kong
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the peried from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

18. INVESTMENTS

Group investments

000
Fair value
At 20 October 2022 261
Fair value adjustment 40
lorcign exchange movements 43
At 30 June 2023 344

At 30 June 2023, the Group held a strategic. non-controlling interest of less than 3% in Kobalt Music Royalties
SCA SICAV-SIF ("Fund M), KMR Music Rovaltics IT SCSp (-Fund 117} was closed April 2023,

Value of investment at year-end is marked to fair value using the 31 December 2022 statement. Management does not
believe there will be any material changes.

19. ADVANCES

2023

o0

Advances 291.766
Provision for impairment of advances (17.487)
Total advances 274,279

Analvsed as:

Current assets U3.877
Nan-current asscts [78.402
274,279
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

19, ADVANCES (continucd)

At 20 October 2022
Addittons

Recoupment

Pravision for unrecoupable
Foreign exchange movements
At 30 June 2023

Movement in provision:
At 20 October 2022

Charged to consolidated statement ol comprehensive income during the period

At 30 June 2023

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECFIVABLES

I'tade and other receivables are measured at unamortised amount receivable.

Net advances
S000

266,653
75.538
(70.523)
1.786
825

274279

Provision
000
(19,273
1.780

(17, 487)

Under IFRS 9. the Directors consider the carmying amount of trade and other receivables at the transaction price as

itis assumed they do net contain a significant financing component.

Other receivables

Prepayvments
Accrued income

Total trade and other receivables

023
57000

12,519

3.203
225 447
241,169

_—tl,

8



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables is approximately equat to their fair

value.
2023
$1000
Trade creditors 3.958
Social security and other taxes 158
Rovuln gccruals 402555
Other accruals 7.655
Deferred revenue 78.357
Other creditors 48328
Total trade and other pavables 541.208
22. LEASE LIABILITIES
The ameunts due as of the balance sheet date ot leases classified as finance leases per IFRS 16
2023
$°000
Neot later than one year 2318
l.ater than one vear and not later than five vears 12.238
Later than five vears 2425
16.981
Analvsed as:
Current 2318
Non-current 14.663
16.981

The Group docs not face a signiticant liquidity risk regarding its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored

within the Group’s treasurs tunction.
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUTI' INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 Qctober 2022 to 30 June 2023

23. LOANS AND BORROWING

The book value and fair value of loans and borrowings are as lollows:

2023
S'000
Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Term loan and revolver 440,500
Accrued loan interest 4974
Capitalised debt costs (7,853)
Taotal borrowings 437.621
Analysed as:
Currem 4.975
Non-current 432,646
437.621

All borrowings are in US dollars.
The other principal features of the Group's borrowings are as {follows:

During the current year. Kobalt London Limited. a subsidiars of the Group continued to utilize the loan facility.
As of 30 Junc 2023 the value outstanding was $440.5 million. Additionally. capitalised debt costs of (§860k) were
incurred in the vear. which has reduced as capitalised debt is released.

Kohalt Music Group Limited and all of its subsidiaries serve as guarantors ot the debt.



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

24. DEFERRED TAX

SHHW
Deferred tax asset
At 20 October 2022 -
Asser arising {rom business combination 31.290
Net trading losses and restricted interest movement (1.224)
At 30 Junc 2023 30,066

The amount of deferred tax assct relates to historic tax losses and restricted interest and is provided in the financial
statements as follows:

GROUT

2023

§000
Net trading losses 30,066
Deferred tax liability

$000
At 20 October 2022 — =
Liability arising trom busingss combination (117.242)
Reversal of timing differences 3678
Exchange rate movements (17
At 30 June 2023 (113,581

The deferred tax lability relates to the imangible assets i note 14



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

25. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

Atthe balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease pas ments under non-
cancellable vperating Jeases for those leases that did not mecet the criteria under TFRS 16 to be capitalised, which
fall duc as tollows:

2023

S’000

Lease pay ments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the vear 1.372
1.572

Operating lease pay ments represent rentals payvable by the Group tor certain of its offiee propertics. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of four y ears.

2023

$000

Not Jater than one year 174
Later than one year and not later than five vears 24
198

The Group as a lessor

At the balance sheet date. the Group had contracted with tenants for the follewing tuture minimum lease pavments:

2023

sTOo00
Not later than one scar 322
[.ater than one year but not later than five years 955

26. FENANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group's financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade pay ables
which arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for
the Group’s operations.

Lhe Group's activities expose it 1 a variety of financial risks including liquidity rate risk. and foreign currency
exchange rate risk. It is the objective of the Group to minimise these risks where possible by maintaining and
operating a robust control environment. (riven the size of the Group. the IDirectors have not delegated the
respansibility of monitoring financial risk management to a scparate sub-committee ot the Board.

The Group curtently uses derivative linancial instruments to manage its exposure 10 these rishs.

All trade payvables are due to be paid within twelve months of the Balance Sheet date. See note 20 for further details.
All assets of the Company are charged 10 the Roval Bank of Scotland ple as part of an inter-Company overdralt
agreement.

Liguidity risk

As regards liquidity. the Group’s policy throughout the period has been to ensure the continuty of funding. The
CGroup manages liguidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and continuoushy monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group presentational currency is USIY and eperates in the United Kingdom. USA and internationally resulting
in the Group being exposed (o foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures.

The Group’s policy is to conduct the majority of its sales in the local currency of cach entity. Within each statutory
entity. there is an amount of trading with overseas customers which are settled in foreign currencies. The Group
menitors its exposure 10 curreney by regularly reviewing its cash balances and matching these with future known
and forecasted requirements,

The Group's pelicy is to aligh cash holdings and future expenses of its major currencics in order 1o provide some
prolection against adverse movements in loreign exchange rates. At svear end the Group held cash as tollows

Currency 30 June 2023

§000
Unived States Dollar 15,405
Gircat British Pound 6112
Luro 5039
Swaedish Krona 2,954
Swiss Iranc 1265
Canadian Dollar 721
Australian BPollar 1073
Flong Koeng Dollar 284

Chinese Yuan

Japancse Yen -

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to sharcholders. In order to maintain or adjust the capital struecture. the Group may adiust the
amoeuants of dividends paid to shareholders. return capital to sharcholders. issue new shares or negotiate debt
facilities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to cquity holders of the parent, comprising issucd
capital. reserves and retained camings.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

¢ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusied) in active markets lor identical assets or liabilities:

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Tevel 1 that arc observable for the asset or
liability. cither directly {that is. as prices) or indirectly {that is. derived {rom prices): and
Level 3: inputs for the assct or liability that are not based on observable market date (that is.
unehservable inputs).

L
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KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The derivative asset and Hability with NimtWest Markets Ple de not meet the offsetting criteria in IAS 32
Consequently. the gross amount of the derivative asset and the gross amount of the derivative Hability presented

separately in the Group’s statement of financial position.

Cash collateral has also been paid to the counterparty, The cash collateral does not mect the ottsetting criteria in
IAS 32, but it can be set oft against the net amount of the derivative asser and derivative lability in the case of

defanlt and insolvency or hankruptey. in accordance with the associated collateral arrangements.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

Cash collateral
Derivative asset

Analy sed as:
Non-current

I°X forward contracts

Derivative lixbility

Analysed as:
Current

[he tollowing table details the Group's liquidity analy sis for its forcign exchange {orward contracts based on
contractual maturities. ‘| he table has been drawn up bascd on the undiscounted gross inflows and outftows en

those derivatives. Assumes all contracts will be gross seftled.

2023
£000

1.577

— 1577

1577
1,377

(117)
(117

(117}

(117}

When the amount pavable or receivable is not fixed. the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the

projected interest rates as illustrated by the yvield curves existing at the reporting date.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

Not fater than one month
Later than onc month and not later than three months

Later than three months and not later than twelve months

2023
000

2.02%
5.914

5.779

I3.718
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28. SIHTARE CAPITAL

Issued and fully paid:
2023
31 AT Ordinary shares of $.000001 cach 000003 |
T 0000031

During the v ear ended 30 June 2023 the Company 1ssued 31 new Al preference shares of $0 000001 each subscribed by

the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party.

The rights. preferences and restrictions attaching to cach class of share are as follows:

HAS ONE VOTE AND ON A
POLL EACH MEMBER HAS
ONE VOTE

PER SHARE HELD

DECLARED. REDEEMABLE.

Share class Voting rights Dividends rights Capital distribution rights Other
Ordinary VOTING RIGHTS ALL DIVIDEND gL(?AF}]zTESJ,SN(}:(%PEB%IREégH None
SHARES RANK EQUALLY | RIGHTS EACH
FOK VOTING PURPOSES. | SHARE RANKS | LR ANY DISTRIBUTION
ON A SHOW OF EQUALLY FOR RIGHTS OF REDEMPTION
HANDS EACH MEMBER ANY DIVIDEND | THE SHARES ARE NOT
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29 SHARE PREMIUM

$1000
Balance at 20 October 2022 -
Premium arising on issue of equity shares 339461
Balance at 30 Junc 2023 339,461

30.  RESERVES
The following describes the nature and purpose ol each rescrve within cquity:
a.  share capital: nominal value of share capital issued:
b, share premium: Amount subscribed for share capital in excess ot nominal value:

¢.  sharc option rescrve: the cost to the Group of share options. less any consideration paid for the
lapse or cancellation ol options:

d. retained carnings: the Compana “s results 1o date. The Company has paid ne dividends 1o date: and
e, retranslation reserve: Exchange differences velating o the wanslation of the net assets of the
Group’s foreign operations. which relate to subsidiaries only. from their functional currency into
the parent’s presentational currency. being UISD. are recognised directly in the translation reserve,

No gains or losses were transferred from translation reserves into profit or loss during the period,



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 October 2022 to 30 June 2023

31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties. have been
eliminated on ¢onsolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

In relation to Fund [ and Fund H. net amounts owed as at year end are $3.0m. Amounts recognised as part of
profit from continuing operations during the year was $0.6m.

['he remuneration of key managemen personnel. including [Directors and senior executives is as follows:

2023
$om
Kev management personncl compensation
Wages and salaries 6.597
Emplisyer pension contributions 58
Share-based payment charges 785
7440

Directors” renumeration is nil for the vear.

32, POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

No post balance sheet events impact the financial statements.

I3 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The ultimate controlling caotity is with Franseisco Partners VI L.P., of One Letterman Drive, Building € — Suite 410, San
Francisco. CA 4109,



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATE LIMITED
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

For the year ended 30 June 2023

2023
Notes ST000
Non-currcnt asscts

[nvestments EN]

354,245

354,245
‘Tolal assets 354,245

Nt assets

e 3S2HS
Equity
Share capital -
Share premium account 36 339.031
Retranslation reserves 15.214
Retained carnings -
Total cquity 354,245

The Company reported a profit for the financial s car ended 30 June 2023 of nil.

The financial statements of Kobalt Music Group Intermediate Limited. registered number 143511200 were approsved by the
Roard of Directors and authorised for issuc on 16 November 2023,

M Razzini - Director



KOBALT MUSIC GROUP INTERMEDIATLE LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

As at 30 June 2023

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share Retranslation Retained Total
premium reserve earnings equity

account

Note 36
£ 000 5.000 $000 $'000
Balance at October 2022 - - - -
Other comprehensive income - 15.214 - 15214
Total comprehensive income for the vear - 15,214 - 15214
lssuc of share capital 339.461 - - 339461
Foreign exchange ditterences (430} - - (430
Balance at 30 Junc 2023 339,031 15,214 - 3842485

59
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from 20 Qctober 2022 to 30 June 2023

34, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The separate financiyl statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companics Act 2006, The Company
meets the definition of a qualifving entity under FRS 100 (Iinancial Reporting Standard 100) issued by the Financial
Reporting Council. Accordingly. the tinancial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101
{Financial Reporting Standard 101) *Reduced Disclosure Framework™ as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.
Lhis ransition is net considered to have had a material etteet on the financial statements,

As permitied by RS 101, the Company has tahen advantage of the disclosure exemptions avatlable under that standard
in relation to share-based payment. capital management, presentation ot comparative information in respect of certain
asscts, presentation of a cash-flow statement and certain related party transactions. Where required. equivalent
disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements hine been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policics adopted are
the same as those set eut in note 2 and note 3 o the consolidated financial statements except as noted below.,

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, no protit and loss account is presented in respect of the parent Company,
Investment in subsidiaries

[nvestments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less, where appropriote. provisions for impairment.

35 INVESTMENTS

Investment
COMPANY in subsidiary
undertakings

ST000
Cost
A1 20 Ocetober 2022 33946l
Fereign exchange 14,784
A130 June 2023 _ 354,245

For details on investments. reter (o note 18 1o the consolidated financial statements.

36. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

The movements on these items are disclosed in notes 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

37. SHARE OPTION RESERVE

The movements in the reserve are disclosed in the Company statement of changes in equity on page 59.

3R. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Na post balance sheet events that impact the financial statcment.
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